FILED

07/27/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0478

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

and

JOSIAH BRACKETT,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appellant/Defendant's Opening Brief

On Appeal from the District Court of the Eighteenth Judicial District of the State of Montana, In and For the County of Gallatin

> Before the Honorable John C. Brown Cause No. DC-20-495C

RUFUS I. PEACE Peace Law Group, LLC 7643 Gate Parkway Suite 104-1267 Jacksonville, FL 32256 Telephone (904) 253-3492 rufus.peace@outlook.com

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
STATEMENT OF FACTS
STANDARDS OF REVIEW11
ARGUMENT
I. Based upon the new requirement in <i>COUnterman v. colorado</i> brackett's conviction should be vacated11
II. Brackett's plea colloquy does not support a plea of guilty based upon the new rule
CONCLUSION15
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Counterman v. Colorado, U.S	1, 5, 11, 14, 15
Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314.	
State v. Bailey, 2021 MT 157	
State v. Egelhoff, 272 Mont. 114	
State v. Martel, 273 Mont. 143	
State v. Mercier, 2021 MT 12	
State v. Reichmand, 2010 MT 228	
<i>State v. Yuhas</i> , 2010 MT 223	
Voisine v. United States, 579 U.S. 686	

Statutes

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220	
Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(43)	
Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-3-602(1)(c)	-

Constitutions

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Given the U.S. Supreme Court's June 27, 2023 opinion in *Counterman v. Colorado*, the statute upon which Brackett was convicted (Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220, Stalking) is unconstitutional and his conviction should be vacated.
- 2. The factual basis supporting Brackett's guilty plea was based upon an unconstitutional standard and his conviction should be vacated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 4, 2022, Brackett pled guilty to four counts of stalking, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220. The statute of conviction requires proof that a person "purposely or knowingly" engage in a course of conduct that they know or should know would cause a "reasonable person" to fear for their safety or suffer emotional distress. As written and based upon this Court's precedent, the statute establishes an objective standard, which does not require that the offender have an understanding that their speech would cause fear or emotion distress, rather the standard established by the statute is whether a reasonable person would find the defendant's speech threatening or suffer emotional distress.

On June 27, 2023, the U.S. Supreme Court released its opinion in *Counterman v. Colorado*, _____ U.S. ____ (2023), which addressed Colorado's stalking statute as it relates to the application of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Colorado, like Montana, requires an objective showing that a reasonable person would find the defendant's actions threatening or that a reasonable person would suffer emotional distress. In *Counterman*, the U.S. Supreme Court struck down Colorado's statute stating that the State must show "the defendant had some subjective understanding of his statement's threatening nature." Like the statute at issue in *Counterman*, Montana's statute does not require a showing that the defendant had some subjective understanding of the nature of his speech. Additionally, the factual basis provided by Brackett did not provide support for a finding that Brackett had a subjective understanding that his speech would cause a person to fear for their safety or suffer emotional distress.

Since *Counterman* establishes a new substantive constitutional rule, its rule is retroactive and applies regardless of the when the conviction became final. Given this, this Court should set aside Brackett's conviction and remand for additional proceedings consistent with the *Counterman* requirement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The U.S. Supreme Court's *Counterman* requirement that the State must prove a subjective understanding by the defendant that their speech is threatening in nature or would cause the target of that speech to suffer emotional distress invalidates Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220 and Brackett's conviction under that statute should be set aside and his case remanded for further proceedings consistent with the *Counterman* rule.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At some point in the summer of 2019, Brackett was living in California and met Anna Lauenstein ("Lauenstein"). Affidavit of Probable Cause and Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Information ("Affidavit"), ¶ 10; Doc. 1. Lauenstein was working temporarily in Lake Tahoe, California and she described meeting Brackett as brief and stated they were no more than acquaintances. *Id*.

Despite only interacting with Lauenstein briefly, Brackett became obsessed with Lauenstein and continued to attempt to contact her after Lauenstein returned to Montana. *Id*. Lauenstein attempted to block Brackett on social media, but Brackett created new accounts or otherwise found workarounds to continue to contact Lauenstein. *Id*.

Brackett's actions lead Lauenstein to seek an order of protection, which was issued on April 3, 2020. Affidavit, ¶ 3. However, this did not stop Brackett from contacting Lauenstein, directly and indirectly. Affidavit ¶ 5. Eventually, Lauenstein reported these violations of the order of protection, giving rise to criminal charges against Brackett. Affidavit ¶ 3.

On November 23, 2020, the State filed an Information charging Brackett with four counts of Stalking, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220(1)(b). Docket

3. On December 29, 2020, the State filed its First Amended Information adding one additional count of Stalking. Doc. 10. On April 30, 2020, the State filed its Second Amended Information adding another two counts of Stalking, bringing the total to seven counts of Stalking. Doc. 40.

Each of the counts alleged Brackett "purposely or knowingly engaged in a course of conduct directed at a specific person and knew or should have known that the course of conduct would cause a reasonable person to suffer substantial emotional distress and by doing such violated an order of protection..." See Counts 1-7, Doc. 40.

After plea negotiations, Brackett plead guilty to four of the seven counts of Stalking. See Transcript of March 4, 2022 Change of Plea Hearing ("Tr."). Following entry of his guilty pleas, Brackett provided an allocation to provide the factual basis for each of the counts. Tr. 12:20-14:9. Below is a exert with the relevant parts of Brackett's allocution:

Q. Mr. Brackett, concerning Count 3, in September of 2020, did you purposely or knowingly contact Anna Lauenstein more than one time by sending her direct messages one time and calling her at least once?

A. Yes, indeed I did.

Q. And at that time, there was an order of protection in place that was prohibiting you from having contact with her; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And would you agree that by texting her or calling her or trying to communicate with her through those means in September, that you knew or should have known that that would cause her substantial emotional distress?

A. I concur. I agree.

Q. Count 5. Josiah, in November of the year 2020, do you agree that you called and left voicemails at least two times to Anna Lauenstein at the time?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. In that month?

A. I agree.

Q. And at that time, you were aware there was an order of protection in place that prohibited you from attempting or communicating with her in any way; is that true?

A. It's true.

Q. And so, do you agree that you knew or should have known at that time that your attempts to communicate with her, given the order of protection, would cause her substantial emotional distress?

A. That's correct, I agree.

Q. Count 6. In December of the year 2020, did you purposely or knowingly attempt or contact Anna Lauenstein by sending messages either directly to her?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did this happen more than one time --

A. It did.

Q. -- during the month of December 2020?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you purposely or knowingly attempt to contact her, either through messages or social media, during that month?

A. Yes.

Q. And there was -- you were aware there was an order of protection in place at that time that prohibited you from having any direct or indirect contact with her at that time?

A. That's correct.

Q. And, therefore, because of that, would you agree that you knew or you should have known that your attempts to contact her directly or indirectly would cause her substantial emotional distress, given that there was an order of protection in place prohibiting you from having contact?

Do you agree that your contacting her, that you knew or you should have known it would cause her substantial emotional distress?

A. I agree I should have known.

Q. For Count 7, Josiah, through March and April of 2021, when you were in custody at the Gallatin County Detention Center, did you purposely or knowingly attempt to contact Anna Lauenstein by calling her one time, I guess, and left a message that there was an inmate, that you wished to have contact with her and also by sending her direct messages while you were in custody or a direct message?

A. That's correct. Through inmate canteen.

Q. This happened -- there were at least two times that you attempted or tried to communicate with her?

A. That's correct.

Q. And at that time, you did that purposely or knowingly? Wasn't an accident, right?

A. Knowingly.

Q. Okay. You did that knowingly, and at that time, do you agree that there was an order of protection in place that prohibited you from attempting to contact her or having direct or indirect contact with her?

A. I agree.

Q. And given that there was the order of protection in place, do you agree that you knew or that actually you should have known at that time that these attempts to communicate and these messages would cause her a substantial emotional distress?

A. That's correct, I agree.

Tr. 12:20-17:8.

The district court accepted Brackett's plea colloquy as providing an adequate

factual basis and entered guilty pleas to the four counts of Stalking, under Mont.

Code Ann. § 45-5-220(1)(b). Tr. 18:7-12.

On June 30, 2022, Brackett was sentenced to 5 years commitment to

Department of Public Health and Human Services for each count, running consecutive to each other. See Sentencing Order, Doc. 125.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court exercises plenary review of constitutional questions. *State v. Mercier*, 2021 MT 12, ¶ 11, 403 Mont. 34, 479 P.3d 967; *State v. Bailey*, 2021 MT 157, ¶ 17, 404 Mont. 384, 489 P.3d 889.

ARGUMENT

I. BASED UPON THE NEW REQUIREMENT IN *COUNTERMAN V. COLORADO* BRACKETT'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE VACATED.

In its recent opinion in *Counterman v. Colorado*, ____U.S. ____(2023), the U.S. Supreme Court established a new constitutional requirement for cases involving speech which is prohibited as threating. In such cases, the State must now show the defendant had some subjective understanding of the statements threatening nature. The *Counterman* court established "recklessness" as the required mens rea for proving the defendant had a subjective understanding of the threatening nature of their speech.

While Montana does not have a "recklessness" mens rea, it roughly equates to "negligently," as defined by Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(43).

Recklessness as defined by the U.S. Supreme Court requires "a showing that a person consciously disregarded a substantial and unjustifiable risk that his conduct will cause harm to another." *Counterman*, citing *Voisine v. United States*, 579 U.S. 686, 691 (2016) (internal quotations omitted).

In Montana "negligently" is statutorily defined as:

"Negligently"--a person acts negligently with respect to a result or to a circumstance described by a statute defining an offense when the person consciously disregards a risk that the result will occur or that the circumstance exists or when the person disregards a risk of which the person should be aware that the result will occur or that the circumstance exists. The risk must be of a nature and degree that to disregard it involves a gross deviation from the standard of conduct that a reasonable person would observe in the actor's situation. "Gross deviation" means a deviation that is considerably greater than lack of ordinary care. Relevant terms, such as "negligent" and "with negligence", have the same meaning.

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(43).

A. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220 Contains an Objective Standard, Disallowed Under *Counterman*

(1) A person commits the offense of stalking if the person purposely or knowingly engages in a course of conduct directed at a specific person and knows or should know that the course of conduct would cause a reasonable person to:

(a) fear for the person's own safety or the safety of a third person; or(b) suffer other substantial emotional distress.

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220.

The statute requires first that the defendant "purposely or knowingly" engage in a course of conduct, this requires the defendant to purposely or knowingly perform an act, in this case speech, and that speech must be directed at a specific person. The final part of the statute requires that the defendant "know or should know" that speech would cause a reasonable person to be afraid or suffer substantial emotional distress.

It is the final part of the statute that is at issue, as defined within the statute:

"Reasonable person" means a reasonable person under similar circumstances as the victim. This is an objective standard.

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-220(2)(b), emphasis added.

As defined by this Court, the standard employed when construing the statute is that of the "reasonable person." *State v. Martel*, 273 Mont. 143, 150, 902 P.2d 14, 19 (1995). A reasonable person standard is an objective one, which asks if a reasonable person faced with the defendant's conduct would experience substantial emotional distress. *Id.*; see also *State v. Yuhas*, 2010 MT 223, ¶ 9, 358 Mont. 27, 243 P.3d 409. The defendant's subjective understanding of the threatening nature of their speech is irrelevant under the statute.

B. Montana's Requirement that the Defendant Knows or Should Know Fails to Save the Statute

Montana's statute as written and applied, is very similar to the Colorado statute stricken down by the U.S. Supreme Court. The Colorado statute makes it unlawful to repeatedly make any form of communication with another person in a manner that would cause a reasonable person to suffer serious emotional distress. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-3-602(1)(c).

Unlike the Colorado statute, Montana requires the defendant "knows or should know" their conduct will result in a reasonable person fearing or suffering emotional distress. While the requirement that the defendant knows the conduct at issue will cause a reasonable person to suffer fear or substantial emotional distress would be a higher requirement than the recklessness standard, the "or should know" causes the statute to fail.

Should know implies that regardless of the person's actual knowledge, circumstances exist that imply that a reasonable person would have such knowledge. This again is an objective standard, barred by *Counterman*.

Recklessness requires a showing that the defendant "consciously disregarded a substantial and unjustifiable risk that his conduct will cause harm to another." The "should know" does not encapsulate this requirement and dooms the statute at issue.

C. Counterman's Requirement Applies and is Retroactive Because This Case is on Direct Appeal

This Court determines the retroactivity of a constitutional rule as a matter of law. *State v. Reichmand*, 2010 MT 228, \P 6, 358 Mont. 68, 243 P.3d 423. The U.S. Supreme Court's retroactivity analysis for federal constitutional errors is binding upon states when federal constitutional errors are involved. *Reichmand*, at \P 13.

"[A] new rule for the conduct of criminal prosecutions is to be applied retroactively to all cases, state or federal, pending on direct review or not yet final." *Reichmand*, at ¶ 14, citing to and quoting *State v. Egelhoff*, 272 Mont. 114, 124, 900 P.2d 260, 266 (1995); see also *Griffith v. Kentucky*, 479 U.S. 314, 107 S. Ct. 708, 93 L. Ed. 2d 649 (1987). There is no requirement that the appellant have objected below for this Court to review the new rule on appeal. *Reichmand*, at ¶ 11.

Here, this case is on direct appeal and the *Counterman* rule must be applied. The Appellant did not object below because *Counterman* had not yet been decided, the opinion was only released while this case was pending appeal.

II. BRACKETT'S PLEA COLLOQUY DOES NOT SUPPORT A PLEA OF GUILTY BASED UPON THE NEW RULE

The district court received a plea colloquy from Brackett for each of the four counts of stalking. Based on the statute as written and then existing law the plea colloquy would have been sufficient to provide a factual basis for each of Brackett's guilty pleas. However, after applying the new rule, Brackett's colloquy can no longer provide an adequate factual basis for his guilty plea.

Specifically, for each count, defense counsel asked Brackett if he "knew or should have known" that his actions would cause Lauenstein to suffer substantial emotional distress. Again, it is the "should have known" portion which causes the defect in Brackett's plea colloquy. As discussed above, this does not meet the "recklessness" showing required under *Counterman* and cannot provide an adequate factual basis to support a Stalking conviction.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the new, retroactive, *Counterman* rule, the statute of conviction in this case is unconstitutional and Brackett's conviction should be set aside and remanded. Additionally, with the new rule in place, Brackett's plea colloquy fails to provide an adequate factual basis to find him guilty of a constitutionally sound criminal charge.