01/22/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0478

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0478

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

#### JOSIAH BRACKETT.

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County, The Honorable John C. Brown, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
ROY BROWN
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
roy.brown2@mt.gov

AUDREY CROMWELL Gallatin County Attorney 1709 West College, Ste. 200 Bozeman, MT 59715

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Through Appellant's knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea—including his bargain with the State to expressly waive his right to appeal his conviction and to plead guilty in exchange for the State's recommendation for dismissal of three felony counts of stalking—has Appellant waived his right to bring constitutional challenges to his conviction on appeal?

If not, has Appellant met his burden to show that, in light of *Counterman v*. *Colorado*, 143 S. Ct. 2106 (2023), Montana's stalking statute is unconstitutional facially and as applied to him?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State charged Appellant Josiah Brackett with seven counts of stalking, all against the same victim, A.L., and covering discrete monthly periods of time from July-December 2020, and March-April 2021. (Doc. 40, Second Amended Inform.) The State alleged that Brackett's conduct was calling A.L., sending her multiple direct messages, posting on social media, and creating other means of communications to stalk her. (*Id.*) The State alleged that Brackett acted with knowledge to cause substantial emotional distress. (*Id.*)

Brackett and the State entered into a Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-211(1)(c) plea agreement, whereby the State agreed to move to dismiss Counts I, II, and IV at sentencing in exchange for Brackett's guilty pleas to Counts III, V, VI, and VII. (State's Ex. 1 at 1, 3, 2/28/22 plea agreement, *offered and admitted at* 3/4/22 Tr. at 4.) The State further agreed to recommend commitment to the Department of Public Health and Human Services (DPHHS) for 5 years for each of the 4 counts, all consecutive, for a total recommended 20-year sentence as follows: 10 years in DPHHS custody, followed by 10 years suspended.<sup>2</sup> (*Id.* at 3.)

Brackett signed an Acknowledgement and Waiver of Rights by Plea of Guilty, affirming, among other waived rights, he was giving up his "right to appeal [his] conviction" without reservation. (Doc. 95 at 2.) He also agreed he was waiving "any factual dispute" as to his guilt. (*Id.* at 1.) He further agreed to waive "[t]he right to have the State prove each element of the offense(s) beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Id.*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Under the (1)(c) plea agreement, even if the court does not accept the agreement, the defendant has no right to withdraw his plea. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-211(1)(c) (". . . the court shall advise the defendant that, if the court does not accept the recommendation or request, the defendant nevertheless has no right to withdraw the plea[.]"); *see State v. Olson*, 2014 MT 8, ¶¶ 14-16, 373 Mont. 262, 317 P.3d 159; *see also* Change of Plea Tr. at 7-8 (district court here explaining the effect of a (1)(c) agreement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Under this recommended DPHHS sentence, incorporating credit for time served, Brackett could be paroled back to California in a year if he successfully completed his mental health treatment at MSH. (6/29/22 Tr. at 82-83.)

At his change of plea hearing, Brackett confirmed: (1) all the rights he was giving up as detailed in his Acknowledgement; (2) his knowledge as to all the consequences of his guilty plea; and (3) his satisfaction with his attorney. (3/4/22 Tr. at 7-10.) The district court confirmed that defense counsel discussed all of Brackett's rights with him and that they had not had communication problems. (*Id.* at 18.) Finally, the court specifically inquired:

[COURT]: Do you believe [your client] understands the constitutional rights he's waiving today by pleading guilty to those four counts?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I believe he does. We've had some lengthy discussions about them and discussed them at length multiple times, and I do believe that he understands the rights he is waiving today.

[COURT]: And do you believe he makes that waiver knowingly and voluntarily?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I do.

(*Id.* at 18-19.)

Brackett pleaded guilty to Counts III, V, VI and VII. (*Id.* at 11-12.) He admitted he possessed the subjective *mens rea* for each count—that is, that he "knows or should know" that his conduct would cause substantial emotional distress—and further admitted that he committed the other elements of stalking. (*Id.* at 12-19.)

Accordingly, the district court found "that Mr. Brackett has knowingly and voluntarily waived his rights[,]" and he had "knowingly and voluntarily entered pleas of guilty." (*Id.* at 19.) The court accepted his guilty pleas. (*Id.*)

At the June 29, 2022 sentencing, the State abided by its agreed-upon recommendation in full. (6/29/22 Tr. at 81-82.) Under the 1(c) plea agreement, Brackett was allowed to recommend any legal sentence, and he recommended a 12-year deferred sentence. (*Id.* at 112.)

Departing downward from the State's recommendation, the district court sentenced Brackett to DPHHS for a total of 18 years, with 10 years suspended, with a recommended placement at Montana State Hospital.<sup>3</sup> (Doc. 125; 6/30/22 Tr. at 22-24.) In accordance with the plea agreement, the court dismissed Counts I, II, and IV. (Doc. 126; 6/30/22 Tr. at 34-35.)

Over a year after Brackett's change of plea, on June 27, 2023, the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Counterman*, analyzing true threats under Colorado's stalking statute and determining that the First Amendment required a minimum *mens rea* of recklessness for statements that are categorized as "true threats." *Counterman*, 143 S. Ct. at 2111-12. The Supreme Court held that Counterman's stalking judgment could not be upheld because Colorado's stalking statute did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Count III, 5 years, none suspended; Count V, 3 years, none suspended; Count VI, 5 years, all suspended; Count VII, 5 years, all suspended; all counts consecutive.

require the prosecution to show "any awareness on [Counterman's] part that the statements could be understood [as threats]" but rather only contemplated "whether a reasonable person would understand ["Counterman's] statements as threats." *Id.* at 2119.

Brackett appeals, alleging that Montana's stalking statute is like Colorado's stalking statute, arguing that Montana's stalking statute has an objective, not subjective *mens rea*, or, alternatively, the subjective *mens rea* does not meet the minimum standard of recklessness. (Appellant's Br. at 13.)

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

## I. The offenses

In the summer of 2019, the victim, A.L., met Brackett briefly while she was working on a fire crew in Lake Tahoe, California. (Doc. 38 at 5; 6/30/22 Tr. at 6-7.) After working the job, A.L. returned home to Bozeman. (6/30/22 Tr. at 6-7.)

Despite only being acquaintances, Brackett became obsessed with A.L. and began to follow her on social media. (Doc. 38 at 5.) He found pictures of her on social media dating back years before the two met in 2019. (*Id.*) He sent unwanted calls, texts, emails, and posts. In response, A.L. tried to block Brackett on her social media accounts at least nine times. (*Id.*)

On April 3, 2020, A.L. secured a temporary order of protection against Brackett. (Doc. 38 at 1.) A few weeks later, when Brackett failed to attend the subsequent hearing, a permanent order of protection was issued, prohibiting Brackett from contacting A.L. through any means, including third parties. (*Id.* at 2.) The order also prohibited Brackett from "harassing, threatening, abusing, following, stalking, annoying, or disturbing the peace" of A.L. (*Id.*)

Brackett did not abide by the protection order. He made numerous

Facebook "comments" and "likes" on photos depicting A.L., posting comments

such as "I SEE [A.L]" and "I got my eyes on [A.L.]!" (Doc. 38 at 2.) When A.L.

blocked his social media accounts, he would create new accounts, tailored

exclusively to A.L. (*Id.* at 3.) His accounts would be named

"i\_got\_my\_eyes\_on\_you" and "Josiah\_loves\_[A.L.]" (*Id.*) On the accounts

themselves, Bracket would post "memes" about stalking—with stock images of a

person looking through binoculars and language underneath—professing, "I'M

NOT A STALKER, I'M JUST VERY INTERESTED IN YOU" and "BACK IN

MY DAY WE STALKED WITH BINOCULARS, NOT FACEBOOK" and

"YEAH TAKE IT OFF." (*Id.*)

Brackett started alluding to his own awareness of his criminal conduct, and began posting on Facebook:

• I'm not a criminal for liking every single picture of [A.L.] on Facebook! I can't help that she's gorgeous okay!!!

- I'd liked just about every single picture of [A.L.] that I could find and the total of photos liked would be to infinity and beyond! And liking pictures on Facebook and Instagram is not a crime.
- Send me to jail already.
- HEADED TO THE SLAMMER
- So apparently, I'm a "Creeper"

(Doc. 38 at 4.)

In August 2020, A.L. received a phone call from an "unknown caller" and a disguised voice said "I love you" twice before ending the call. (*Id*.)

Brackett's behavior still escalated. Brackett began posting on social media and directly messaging A.L., explaining his intent to move from Lake Tahoe to Bozeman to be with A.L.:

- I need to see [A.L.] already[.] I'm going to resign soon and head on Over to Montana early[.] I can always reapply or find a fire job elsewhere[.]
- I love you. Unblock me on everything and get in contact with me again. And if you don't I think I'll die. I got a job with CAL FIRE & I'm raking up money before I come to Bozeman.
- It's a rough life and I'm so ready for the off season so I can meet up with [A.L.]! I'm coming for [A.L.].

(Doc. 38 at 5.) A.L. distributed flyers around Bozeman, giving information about Brackett and the protective order, and also expressing fear that Brackett intended to harm her if he came to Bozeman. (6/29/22 Tr. at 67; State's Ex. 2.)

Brackett started threatening A.L.'s boyfriend. Brackett initially obtained his phone number and left him a "warning" to "be with [A.L.] no longer." (Doc. 38 at 6.) In a later escalation, Brackett told A.L., "So I think I'll actually kill [your boyfriend] if you don't break up with him." (*Id.* at 8.) Brackett followed that up with a "jk" for just kidding. (*Id.*) Brackett also told A.L., "No more boyfriends for you [A.L.] because my plan is to take you home." (*Id.*)

Brackett also began sending A.L. curated song playlists, under the account names such as "Josiah + [A.L.] = [heart shape emoji]" and with playlists such as "Love Letter," and "Rise up, my darling!" and "Come away with me, my fair one!" and "Dreaming of you" and "[A.L.], you are always on my mind." (Doc. 38 at 7.) Brackett also sent escalatory and aggressive playlists entitled "unblock me" and "Ghosted, blocked & a restraining order [sad face, broken heart emoji]" and finally "No more boyfriends for you [A.L.] because I'm here no[w] & we're going home." (Id.) In total, Brackett created over 125 playlists for A.L. (6/29/22 Tr. at 70.)

In November 2020, Brackett's language escalated to sexual advances toward A.L. (Doc. 38 at 7.) He stated in a message, "The average joe watches porn. I choose to not be like the average Joe in the year 2020. If I'm going to masturbate, I only the [sic, think] about [A.L.] since she's the only woman that I choose to pursue . . . I hope it makes her feel real good inside knowing that I only think of her and picture her in my mind." (*Id.* at 6-7.) He sent A.L. photos of him holding

personal lubricant and a sex toy, along with handwritten notes such as "Josiah loves [A.L.]" (*Id.* at 7.) He sent unrelenting sexual text messages to A.L.:

- [A.L.]! I've been buying masturbation toys and I only think about you when I use them.
- I wanna be your pussy monster [A.L.]! I want to park my limo in your garage.
- So when I think about you I touch myself and I'm getting tired of only using my hand so I've been using toys with my hand and I'm good at going for a long time because I relax before I cum . . . I want you to play with me [A.L.] so be my friend.

(*Id*.)

In November and December 2020, just prior to being arrested on stalking charges, Brackett's obsession continued. He found A.L. on TikTok and commented three separate times:

- I love everything about you and you are so much cooler than me and I wish that I was as good at TikTok like you are
- I love your pretty face
- OMG!! You're so adorable

(Doc. 38 at 8.)

Brackett soon started posting pictures of A.L. and referencing her on Snapchat. (Doc. 38 at 8.) One was a picture of a deer with the caption, "I got a spotting Scope to find [A.L.] in Montana so I can spot her from far distance! #RestrainingOrder #BirdWatching." (*Id.*) Another post is a picture of Brackett's

smart watch screen where he had put as his cover picture a photo of A.L., with the caption, "Obsessed." (*Id.*) Another post is pictures of railroad tracks with the captions, "If you don't love me I'll go crazy!" and "If you don't invite me back into your life I'll go crazy." (*Id.*) Brackett also made some new playlists for A.L. with titles like:

- [A.L.] you can't run and hide [A.L.]
- [Your boyfriend] will prob make more money than me cuz he's smart so I don't blame you
- Woman is the root of all evil
- [A.L.] you make my life hard [A.L.]

(*Id*.)

In December 2020, Brackett was arrested in California and extradited to Montana. (6/29/22 Tr. at 68-69.) But even after Brackett was charged with multiple stalking offenses, he still attempted to contact A.L. from jail in March/April 2021. (Doc. 38 at 9.) First, he attempted to call A.L. directly, but the jail had blocked her number. (*Id.*) Undeterred, Brackett found a workaround by using a jail kiosk called "Inmate Canteen" whereupon inmates can request friends and family to buy commissary and phone cards. (*Id.*) Thus, two automated texts were sent to A.L. which read, "Josiah Brackett wishes to inform you that they are in custody at Gallatin County, MT. Go to <a href="http://www.inmatecanteen.com">http://www.inmatecanteen.com</a> to see way you can interact." (*Id.*)

Based on Brackett's aggressive and disturbing stalking behavior, A.L. was "extraordinarily concerned for her wellbeing and safety." (Doc. 38 at 6.) And because of the escalating behavior of Brackett threatening to come to Bozeman and not stopping until he was in jail, A.L. became "afraid for her life." (*Id.*)

#### II. The change of plea

Brackett allocuted to the elements of each offense subject to his guilty plea.

#### A. Count III

Count III alleged that, in September 2020, Brackett repeatedly directly and indirectly contacted A.L. through messages, calls, and posts on various social media, causing her substantial emotional distress. (Doc. 40.) Brackett confirmed that, by September 2020, an order of protection was already in place prohibiting his contact with A.L. and affirmed he purposely or knowingly contacted A.L. more than one time. (3/4/22 Tr. at 12-13.) Defense counsel asked:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And would you agree that by texting [A.L.] or calling her or trying to communicate with her through the means in September, that you knew or should have known that that would cause her substantial emotional distress?

[BRACKETT]: I concur. I agree.

(*Id.* at 13.)

#### B. Count V

Count V alleged that, in November 2020, Brackett repeatedly contacted A.L. in the same manner. (Doc. 40.) Brackett additionally confirmed that he "called and left voicemails at least two times to [A.L]." (3/4/22 Tr. at 13-14.) He understood the order of protection was taken out against him. (*Id.* at 14.) Brackett again agreed it was "correct" that he knew or should have known his conduct would cause substantial emotional distress. (*Id.*) Defense counsel also confirmed:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: You purposely or knowingly tried to call her or text her; is that true?

[BRACKETT]: That's correct.

(*Id*.)

#### C. Count VI

Count VI alleged similar conduct in December 2020. (Doc. 40.) Brackett confirmed the same information as above, including that he purposely or knowingly attempted to contact A.L. through messages and social media in December. (3/4/22 Tr. at 15.) Defense counsel asked:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Do you agree that your contacting [A.L.], that you knew or you should have known it would cause her substantial emotional distress?

[BRACKETT]: I agree I should have known.

(*Id*.)

#### D. Count VII

Count VII alleged that, after Brackett was arrested for the other 2020 stalking offenses, in March/April 2021, Brackett repeatedly texted and called A.L. from jail. (Doc. 40.) Brackett confirmed he engaged in that conduct "through inmate canteen" at least two times, and that he did so "knowingly." (3/4/22 Tr. at 16.) He lastly agreed that, given the existence of the order of protection, he knew or should have known such conduct would cause substantial emotional distress. (*Id.* at 17.)

#### E. Conclusion

Finally, after Brackett confirmed he met all the elements of each offense, the district court inquired:

[COURT]: Thank you, [counsel] All right. Mr. Brackett, just so we're clear for the record then, you've now pled guilty to Counts 3, 5, 6, and 7. Each of those is a count of stalking, a felony. You agree sir, at the end of the day, there is no doubt you are guilty of Counts 3, 5, 6, and 7?

[BRACKETT]: There is no doubt, I agree, Your Honor. (3/4/22 Tr. at 18.)

## III. The sentencing

#### A. Mental Disease and Disorder Evaluations

Dr. Bowman Smelko conducted a mental disease or disorder evaluation.

While concluding that Brackett had a "delusional disorder, erotomanic type,"

Dr. Smelko determined that Brackett "had knowledge of his actions and clear purpose with regard to the actions held despite them being driven by an obsession for the alleged victim through the delusional process noted above." (Smelko Eval. at 5, 9.)

What was concerning to Dr. Smelko was Brackett's minimization of his criminal conduct. Dr. Smelko recalled Brackett's interview statements that Brackett acknowledged the protective order against him was real but he believed it contained "false statements" and "bullshit." (Smelko Eval. at 7.) Dr. Smelko nonetheless explained, "In the current evaluation, Mr. Brackett demonstrated that he appreciated the fact that if a no-contact order was in place, he was not to have contact with the alleged victim and that this was against the law." (Smelko Eval. at 10-11.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The delusional "Erotomanic subtype" is the "presence of one or more delusions involving situations that persist at least one month. This subtype applies when the central theme of the delusion is that another person is in love with the individual." (Michael J. Scolatti Mental State Eval. at 15) (reaching the same diagnosis as Dr. Smelko.)

In a separate evaluation, Dr. Scolatti largely concurred with Dr. Smelko's opinions. Dr. Scolatti noted that Brackett was "extremely immature for his age and has a fantasy perception of life and romantic relationships." (Scolatti Eval. at 16.) Dr. Scolatti nonetheless explained that "[a]t the time of the commission of the offenses, Mr. Brackett acted knowingly and purposely." (*Id.* at 21.)

Both Drs. Scolatti and Smelko recommended that Bracket be placed in the custody of DPHHS. (Scolatti Eval. at 22; Smelko Eval. at 11.)

#### B. The PSI